10/1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FI	I/E	$\mathbf{D}_{/}$
SID SEP/	6 V	E 991
1.	JPREME	OURT.
Chie	Deputy Cl	erk

THE FLORI	DA BAR,)			
	Complainant,)			
vs.)	CASE	NO.	76,468
JEROME L.	TEPPS,)			
	Respondent.)			
		1			

ON RESPONDENT'S PETITION TO REVIEW THE REPORT OF THE REFEREE

ATTORNEY TEPPS' INITIAL BRIEF

LEWIS A. FISHMAN, P.A. Counsel for Appellant 100 South Pine Island Road Suite 112 Plantation, Florida 33324 (305) 475-8400

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Attorney Jerome Tepps is the Respondent in this complaint by The Florida Bar requesting discipline. Over Respondent's objection, the Referee conducted a hearing solely on the issue of discipline, and recommended that Respondent be disbarred. Respondent now seeks review of the Referee's Report in this Court. This Court has jurisdiction, pursuant to Article V, Section 15 of The Florida Constitution.

All references are to the transcript of the hearing before the Referee, designated by "R" and the page number, or to the documents filed as exhibits to the Record by the Bar or by Respondent, designated by their title.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Jerome Tepps was admitted to practice law in Florida in 1979 and is now thirty-six years old. Since his admission he has engaged in the general practice of law, primarily as a sole practitioner, and was described by two judges of the Circuit Court of Broward County as a good, basic, practicing attorney who never misled them, and who was always forthcoming and forthright, candid and honest with the court and with other attorneys (R.312,314,330). As Respondent testified, he had no particular specialty and, prior to hiring Michael Goldstein as a paralegal, did no work before the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) (R.127). Respondent met Goldstein within a year or so of opening his own practice. Goldstein had been working as a paralegal doing securities work for another law firm when that firm lost its major underwriting client and was forced to let Goldstein go. Goldstein approached Respondent about joining Respondent's firm as a paralegal, enabling Respondent to add securities work to his fledgling practice. Respondent knew that Goldstein at that time had an application for admission to The Florida Bar pending, and also had a pending bar disciplinary matter in New York (R.128-130).

Goldstein went to work for Respondent's law firm and, according to a statement Goldstein gave the SEC in 1987, spent 70% of his time doing securities work under Respondent's supervision (R.267-269). As Respondent testified, Goldstein drafted securities documents and Respondent reviewed them. Respondent relied on

Goldstein's securities expertise, but took responsibility for the paperwork that left the office being correct based on what he actually knew or should have known. (R.135,137). Respondent admitted that he may have been less than perfect in supervising Goldstein, but he did supervise Goldstein and did not let Goldstein do whatever he wanted (R.137-138). In fact, as a result of the same events that are the basis for this disciplinary proceeding, Respondent was previously disciplined for failure to properly supervise a paralegal, was privately reprimanded, and placed on one (1) year's probation, which he successfully completed. In addition, Respondent fired Goldstein. (R.133,224,225).

At some point, a woman named Mary Armeni came to the firm as a result of her knowing Goldstein, to have some securities work done. Respondent met Armeni and turned the work over to Goldstein (R.148-149). Armeni told Goldstein that she was the administrator for several blind pool companies - Pilgrim, Sheppard, Vanguard and Chatsworth - and that she was the liaison between those companies and the law firm or firms that would handle the securities work. It was arranged that Respondent's firm would represent Pilgrim and Sheppard and that another lawyer, Barry Kaplan, would represent Vanguard and Chatsworth using the paralegal services of Goldstein and the computer software of Respondent's firm (R.158-160,255-261,280-281). Goldstein got the information he needed to prepare the registration statements from Mary Armeni, sent out officer and director questionnaires and received back signed registration statements from the officers and directors. In addition, the firm

hired the Washington Service Bureau to do the necessary background checks on the named officers and directors. Finally, Goldstein met named officers of Pilgrim and Sheppard at the bank closings (R.194,214,270-274,283-284).

Goldstein, who did not testify before the Referee because of his announced intention to invoke the protections of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, advised the SEC in a statement he gave them in 1987 that during the registration process of these companies, he spoke with a former client of his, Carl Porto, about these companies, although Porto had no apparent connection to them, other than as someone who does mergers (R.6,275-277,282).

After these blind pool companies were registered to raise small amounts of money, the SEC began an investigation targeting Carl Porto and others which revealed, among other things, that Porto was involved in these companies but not named on the registration statements. Respondent testified that even if he had done a more thorough investigation than his firm conducted, that such diligence would have not revealed Porto's involvement to him because Porto and the named officers had lied (R.163-164,167). The SEC, as part of its investigation, in January, 1988, filed a civil injunctive complaint in the United States District Court of the Northern District of Illinois naming Carl Porto and others, including Goldstein and Respondent (R.26,30, Bar Exhibit 2 to the record).

The SEC's complaint alleged that Respondent prepared false and misleading registration statements and other documents in his capacity as counsel to the issuing companies (R.37-38,45). Respondent was not alleged to have any involvement in these companies other than in his capacity as counsel for the issuer, for which he received a reasonable fee (R.72,169). Indeed, the chief investigator for the SEC testified that each of these four offerings raised only the minimal amount of \$125,000.00 each; that his investigation revealed that people had agreed to lend their names to the companies for a fee; that at the closings on these offerings the correct people were present; and, that well after the closings, the people who attended the closings as officers were still acting as officers on behalf of the companies, particularly as to the retention of legal counsel to protect their and the companies' interests (R.73,79,81,89-91,96). Finally, the SEC investigator testified that he had no knowledge whatever of any document finding that Respondent knowingly, willingly, negligently or recklessly submitted false documents to the SEC (R.97-98).

Although there was no such finding, in April, 1988, Respondent elected to consent to the entry of a Final Judgment and Order of Permanent Injunction, enjoining him from violating or aiding and abetting any violation of the Securities Acts of 1933 and 1934. This judgment on its face recites that it was entered into by Respondent "...without admitting or denying the allegations of the complaint ...and without trial, argument or adjudication of any fact or law herein..." Final Judgment, Exhibit "A" to Complaint of

The Florida Bar. Respondent testified before the Referee that he made a business and moral decision to consent to this injunction; it would be very costly to defend this action in Chicago and it would take substantial time away from Respondent's practice, both of which he could ill afford (R.202-204). But most importantly, Respondent said:

"But I also wasn't really anxious to fight with the federal government on something where what they were asking for was something that I could live with, which was that I wouldn't violate securities laws in the future.

Because certainly this was an instructive experience, an educational experience where I wasn't going to be even near the line. That was my feeling, that I would never cross or even walk near whatever line it is that separates legal from improper conduct.

So, I did allow an injunction to be entered and I of course was impressed with the fact that I wasn't admitting anything and I wasn't denying anything, and the government seemed very satisfied with that. There was no discussion really about that I should admit I did something wrong, or that I should promise to testify in court, or anything like that.

I felt that they felt I was not as careful as I should have been. I guess they felt that at a minimum. But based on the result that was approved by the government, the SEC, I thought was a good way to resolve things." (R.204, line 10 - 205, line 8).

Of course, as Respondent soon learned, "things" were not in fact "resolved". Instead, following the entry of the consent judgment, the SEC instituted an administrative proceeding against both Goldstein and Respondent pursuant to Rule 2(e)(3) of the Commission's Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. 201 (e)(3), to suspend both Goldstein and Respondent from appearing or practicing before

The Commission.¹ This administrative proceeding was instituted in July, 1988, and was concluded by an offer of settlement resulting in an opinion and order of the Commission dated October 25, 1989 (Exhibit "B" to the Complaint of The Florida Bar), which denied both Goldstein and Respondent the privilege of appearing or practicing before the Commission for five years, or sooner with Commission approval.

The substance of the Commission's opinion was that Respondent and Goldstein had filed registration statements and other documents with the Commission which investigation revealed to have contained untrue statements of material facts or omitted material facts which should have been stated. There was never any hearing at which evidence was adduced, nor was there any finding of fact, that Respondent herein prepared or filed any documents fraudulently.

Instead of conducting a fact finding hearing, the Commission, and subsequently, The Florida Bar, both relied on a provision of the SEC regulations to establish their position that Respondent engaged in fraudulent conduct. That provision states that a person who consents to the entry of a permanent injunction without admitting the facts set forth in the complaint will be presumed, for the purposes of paragraph 2(e)(3), to have been enjoined for the misconduct alleged in the complaint.

¹Goldstein had previously consented to the entry of a permanent injunction against him in May, 1988, in the same civil action brought by the SEC in the United States District Court.

Based on that administrative regulation of the SEC, the Commission, with Respondent's consent, suspended Respondent's privilege to appear or practice before the SEC for up to five years. Then, based on the action of the SEC, The Florida Bar instituted this complaint against Respondent, alleging that he violated Rule 3-4.3, Rules of Discipline and Rules 4-4.1 and 4-8.4, Rules of Professional Conduct, in that he participated in the preparation of fraudulent SEC documents and that he filed SEC documents without authorized signatures.

Over Respondent's objection, the Referee granted the Bar's motion to limit the proceedings to the issue of discipline based on the Bar's contention that the opinion and order of the SEC was:

"A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal, that an attorney licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary action shall be considered as conclusive proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under this rule."

Rule 3-4.6, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. See, Referee's Orders of January 7, 1991, and February 15, 1991. Thus, a hearing was held before the Referee solely on the issue of punishment.

At the hearing, Respondent established that he had never been charged with any crime nor pleaded to any criminal act of any kind. Respondent maintained that neither the order of the United States District Court enjoining him from violating the securities law nor the order of the SEC suspending him from practice with his consent constituted any finding that he committed any fraudulent or negligent act (R.16-19). As noted earlier, the chief investigator

of the SEC admitted that he had no knowledge of any document that established that Respondent knowingly submitted false documents to the SEC (R.97-98). And, to establish that Respondent was prudent in relying on the individuals who came to his office and represented themselves as principals in these companies, Respondent introduced the sworn and signed statements of the officers and directors that he was furnished and the copies of letters that he received indicating that those people were indeed involved in these companies (Respondent's Exhibits "C" through "J"). In addition, Respondent introduced a letter from the Washington Service Bureau establishing that a check of the officers and directors of these companies was conducted at Respondent's behest and revealed no litigation or administrative proceedings against any of them by the SEC (Respondent's Exhibit "B").

Further, even though the Bar's expert securities lawyer testified that he thought that Respondent's conduct regarding due diligence departed from the standard of care mandated by the SEC and by the case law on attorney's liability, that expert admitted that due diligence is not expressly required by any statute, but stems from the provisions regarding the liability of an attorney to third parties (R.109,121).

In final argument, the Bar argued for disbarment contending that the opinion of the SEC established fraud by Respondent. Respondent, on the other hand, argued that the Bar failed to establish the charges in the complaint, failed to establish that there was any fraudulent act or intent by Respondent, and, at most, established negligence, although he was never so charged. See, Final Arguments and Respondent's Memorandum as to Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

WHETHER THE ORDER OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION SUSPENDING RESPONDENT FROM APPEARING BEFORE THE COMMISSION FOR FIVE YEARS OR LESS, ENTERED UPON CONSENT WITHOUT A HEARING OR FINDINGS OF FACT, CONSTITUTES A FINAL ADJUDICATION OF DISCIPLINE BY A FOREIGN JURISDICTION WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 3-4.6 OF THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE DISBARMENT OF RESPONDENT?

WHETHER DISBARMENT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE WHERE RESPONDENT CONSENTED TO AN INJUNCTION IN A CIVIL SUIT BROUGHT BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WHERE NO COURT OR REFEREE MADE ANY INDEPENDENT FINDING OF MISCONDUCT?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Referee erred in refusing to conduct a hearing on the issue of Respondent's misconduct and only considering the issue of discipline. The order of the SEC, which suspended Respondent from practice before the commission based on the agency's own regulation presuming misconduct, without making any independent finding of misconduct, is not a final adjudication of misconduct by a foreign jurisdiction within the meaning of Rule 3-4.6 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

Assuming <u>arguendo</u> that this Court finds no error in the Referee's refusal to hold a hearing at which The Florida Bar would have to prove the allegations in their complaint, this Court should nevertheless refuse to impose the discipline of disbarment. Disbarment is excessive, unwarranted by the facts of this case and a punishment more severe than is necessary to punish Respondent, deter others and protect the public.

POINT ONE

THE REFEREE ERRED IN GRANTING THE FLORIDA BAR'S MOTION TO LIMIT ISSUES AS THE ORDER OF THE SEC IS NOT DISCIPLINE BY A FOREIGN OR FEDERAL JURISDICTION WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 3-4.6, RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR.

At the hearing below, The Florida Bar moved to limit the issues to discipline alone, contending that the administrative proceedings instituted by the SEC constituted:

"[a] final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal, that an attorney licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary action [that] shall be considered as conclusive proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under this rule."

Rule 3-4.6, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

The Bar is wrong. The SEC order in question here is not, and ought not to be held to be, a final adjudication of a court or other authorized disciplinary agency under Rule 3-4.6. First, the SEC is not a court or authorized disciplinary agency of another The SEC is a federal administrative agency whose jurisdiction. purpose is not the qualification, supervision or regulation of lawyers, nor is the SEC a bar agency or association whose function is the discipline of lawyers. The plain language of Rule 3-4.6 precludes a finding that the SEC is an authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction; the rule plainly states that it applies to courts or authorized disciplinary agencies of other jurisdictions where an attorney is licensed to practice in that jurisdiction. The SEC does not license attorneys to practice before it. Indeed, the SEC does not even require that one be an attorney to practice before it. Since the SEC has no independent bar governing the admission, supervision and regulation of attorneys who are independently licensed to appear before the Commission, it is not an authorized disciplinary agency within the meaning of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.²

Not only is the SEC not an authorized disciplinary agency under Rule 3-4.6, but the order of the SEC suspending Respondent for a period of five (5) years or less is not a final adjudication of misconduct as contemplated by the Florida rule. The order of the SEC suspending Respondent was based entirely on an offer of settlement negotiated between Respondent and the SEC after Respondent agreed, without admitting any misconduct, to be permanently enjoined from violating the securities laws in the future. The Florida Bar contends that Respondent's offer to settle a civil action without admitting any wrongdoing whatsoever, and where no independent fact finder found any wrongdoing, is the equivalent to a nolo contendere plea to criminal charges. This is an extraordinary and unwarranted leap, based on the Bar's misapprehension as to the applicability of The Florida Bar v.

Lancaster, 448 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 1984).

²The SEC does of course have internal regulations defining practice before it which apply equally to attorneys, accountants, engineers, or other experts, as well as rules which provide for suspension from the privilege of practicing before the Commission. See, 17 CFR Secs. 201.1 and 201.2. The mere existence of these regulations is not sufficient to declare the SEC to be an authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction under Florida Bar rules, where the SEC rules exist independent of any bar licensing authority and apply to citizens other than lawyers.

In Lancaster, this Court held that a nolo contendere plea by an attorney to a misdemeanor, with an adjudication of guilt, was sufficient to sustain discipline provided that the attorney was given a chance to explain the circumstances surrounding his plea and contest the inference that he engaged in illegal conduct. the instant case, however, there has never been a crime charged, there has never been an adjudication of guilt of a crime, and there has not even been either an admission of wrongdoing or independent finding of wrongdoing in this civil case which might form the basis for a finding that discipline was warranted. Bar's argument has been that since Respondent had an opportunity to contest the civil action for a permanent injunction filed by the SEC, he waived his right to have an independent fact finder determine if he ever committed any misconduct warranting discipline, even though he never admitted any wrongdoing. so, the Bar arques, because an internal regulation of the SEC says that, for purposes of the SEC suspending individuals who practice before it, a person who consents to the entry of a permanent injunction against him, without admitting the facts set forth in the complaint, is presumed to have been enjoined because of the misconduct alleged in the complaint. 17 CFR 201.2(e)(3)(iv). Bar's contention here runs afoul of well settled law in this area.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Wilkes</u>, 179 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1965), this Court held that under the predecessor to Rule 3-4.6:

[&]quot;...the introduction in evidence of a properly authenticated judgment of discipline entered by a sister state shall operate as conclusive proof of guilt of the acts of misconduct adjudicated in that judgment...",

but that:

"...right and justice require that when the accused attorney shows that the proceeding in the foreign state was so deficient or lacking in notice or opportunity to be heard, that there was such a paucity of proof, or that there was some other grave reason which would make it unjust to accept the foreign judgment as conclusive proof of misconduct involved Florida can elect not to be bound thereby". 179 So.2d at 198.

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