FILED
SEP 24 1991

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By
Chief/Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

JEROME L. TEPPS,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 76,468

The Florida Bar Case No. 89-51,415(17C)

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

KEVIN P. TYNAN, #710822
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
5900 N. Andrews Avenue,
Suite 835
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309
(305) 772-2245

JOHN T. BERRY, #217395 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5839

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.,#123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5839

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a case involving serious securities fraud. The Referee has recommended that the same warranted that the Respondent be disbarred. The Bar is in complete agreement with the Referee.

The Respondent contends that the Referee incorrectly limited the issues at trial, when the Referee found the SEC's Order and Opinion, suspending the Respondent's privilege to practice law before the SEC for five years, to be conclusive proof of the misconduct charged in the Bar's complaint and of the misconduct set forth in the SEC's Order and Opinion. The Respondent's tortured argument is predicated upon his incorrect assumption that the SEC is not a disciplinary agency such that the SEC Order would be conclusive proof of the Respondent's All one must do is read the SEC's own rules and misconduct. regulations to see that the SEC clearly has the jurisdiction to discipline and regulate the attorneys that appear and practice before it. mere fact that the SEC also has some disciplinary authority over certain non-lawyers in no way diminishes the dignity that should be accorded the SEC's order of suspension.

As the SEC is a disciplinary agency, it's order is conclusive proof of the Respondent's securities fraud violations. The Respondent's Initial Brief asserts that his conduct warrants a much less severe discipline. This proposition is not supported in case law or other authority. Serious fraud merits disbarment, absent a dearth of mitigating factors. The only mitigation presented by Respondent was character witnesses. This is not enough to outweigh seriousness of his unethical actions. Therefore, the Court should follow the recommendation of disbarment.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FLORIDA BAR'S MOTION TO LIMIT THE ISSUES AT TRIAL TO DISCIPLINE WAS PROPERLY GRANTED.

On December 14, 1990, The Florida Bar moved this Court to limit the issues at trial to those concerning the appropriate discipline of Respondent. On January 7, 1991, the Honorable Edmund W. Newbold, Referee, granted the Bar's motion, and entered an order whereby the sole issue at trial was limited to discipline and further ruled that the Respondent would have an opportunity to present evidence of mitigating circumstances surrounding his consent plea made before the SEC.

This motion was filed by the Bar pursuant to Rule 3-4.6 of the Rules of Discipline, which states that,

"A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal, that an attorney licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct, justifying disciplinary actions, shall be considered as conclusive proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under this rule."

Respondent contends that Rule 3-4.6 is not applicable to the present case and as such that the referee's order granting the Bar's motion was error. Respondent's argument as to the applicability of Rule 3-4.6 is based on his interpretation of the "plain language" of this rule. In arguing the inapplicability of this rule, Respondent has conveniently dissected the rule and thus misinterpreted the "plain language" of the rule.

Respondent references to <u>Mississippi State Bar v. Nichols</u>, 562 So.2d 1285 (Miss. 1990), whereby a similar disciplinary rule (Miss. Rule 6(c)) is specifically not applicable to the SEC or other federal agencies. Respondent fails to note, however, that Rule 13 of Miss. Rules is the applicable rule concerning "Discipline in Another Jurisdiction" akin to Fla. Rule 3-4.6.

Respondent makes two blanket assertions in concluding that the referee erred in granting the Bar's motion to limit the issues at trial to discipline. First, the Respondent asserts that the SEC is not a court or authorized disciplinary agency within the meaning of Rule 3-4.6. (Respondent's Brief p.13.) Second, the Respondent asserts that the final order of the SEC suspending Respondent is "not a final adjudication of misconduct as contemplated by the Florida rule." (Respondent's Brief p.13.)

Respondent's first argument, that the SEC is not a court or authorized disciplinary agency, contains three underlying contentions. First, Respondent contends that the <u>purpose</u> of the SEC is not the "qualification, supervision or regulation of lawyers;" Second, that the SEC is not "a bar agency or association whose <u>function</u> is the discipline of lawyers;" and Third, that because there is no special license requirement to practice before the SEC, it is not a disciplinary agency within the meaning of Rule 3-4.6. (Respondent's Brief p.13.)

While it is true that the <u>sole</u> purpose of the SEC is not the "qualification, supervision or regulation" of lawyers, and it is also true that the SEC's <u>sole</u> function is not the discipline of lawyers, a cursory review of the SEC's organization and Rules of Procedure irrefutably establishes that, of the many functional duties of the SEC, the "qualification, supervision and regulation" of lawyers, as well as the disciplining of unethical attorneys, are well within the "purpose" and "function" of the SEC.

The Securities and Exchange Commission is a federal agency empowered by the United States Congress whose "purpose" is to regulate all aspects of securities transactions. The SEC's statutory

authority to regulate all aspects of securities and transactions involving securities is created by the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, which empowers the SEC to administer the provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, among other specifically enumerated laws. These two laws empower the SEC, among other things, to investigate securities frauds, to impose and enforce legal sanctions specified in such laws, and to administer administrative sanctions, injunctive remedies and criminal prosecutions. 17 CFR section 200.1(d), (j). Further, section 201.2(e) of the SEC's Rules of Practice specifically empower the Commission to discipline an attorney for improper or unethical conduct. 17 C.F.R. section 201.2(2). Thus, one "function" of the SEC is certainly the discipline of lawyers who practice before the Commission.

Respondent next asserts that the "plain language" of this rule states that it applies only to courts or authorized disciplinary agencies of other jurisdictions where an attorney is licensed to practice in that jurisdiction. (Respondent's Brief p.13; emphasis supplied.) Respondent asserts that this rule is only applicable in such jurisdictions where the attorney is specifically licensed to practice. Since the SEC does not specifically require a license to "practice" before it, the Respondent contends that the SEC is not the sort of disciplinary agency that Rule 3-4.6 contemplated. However, a review of the SEC's Rules of Practice clearly shows that the SEC is a disciplinary agency, and is in fact one that was contemplated by Rule 3-4.6, and that this rule is not specifically limited to jurisdictions or agencies requiring a "special" license to practice.

Section 201.2 of the SEC's Rules of Practice specify who may appear and practice before the Commission. 17 CFR section 201.2. Under this rule, both non-lawyers and lawyers may appear before the Commission. Section 201.2(a), (b) (emphasis added.) However, appearance by a lawyer in a legal capacity before the Commission is specifically proscribed in subsection (b),

"A person may be represented in any proceeding by an attorney at law admitted to practice before the Supreme Court of the United States, or the highest court of any State or territory of the United States, or the Court of Appeals or the District Court of the United States for the District of Columbia." Id. (emphasis added.)

The SEC specifically details what encompasses practice before the Commission in section 201.2(g);

"For the purposes of this rule, practicing before the Commission shall include, but shall not be limited to (1) transacting any business with the Commission; and (2) the preparation of any statement, opinion or other paper by any attorney, accountant, engineer or other expert, filed with the Commission in any registration statement, notification, application, report or other document with the consent of such attorney, accountant, engineer or other expert." 17 CFR section 201.2(g). (emphasis added.)

Thus, although practicing before the commission does not specifically require a particular license, practicing before the Commission in a legal capacity requires that the practitioner be licensed to practice law in one of the jurisdictions outlined in section 201.2(b). Respondent asserts that his license to practice is a 'right' which cannot lightly or capriciously be taken away. (citing <u>Kivitz v. S.E.C.</u>, 475 F.2d 956 (D.C. Cir. 1973.)) This "license" to practice before the Commission in a legal capacity is not a 'right' but is merely a conditional privilege which the Commission may suspend or revoke

completely for actions the Commission finds to be improper or unethical. Section 201.2(e) sets out the parameters whereby the Commission may suspend or disbar an attorney for specific acts which the Commission finds to be improper and/or unethical. Section 201.2(e) provides in part:

"(1) The Commission may deny, temporarily or privilege of appearing permanently. the practicing before it in any way to any person who is found by the Commission after notice of and opportunity for hearing in the matter (i) not to possess the requisite qualifications to represent others, or (ii) to be lacking in character or integrity or to have engaged in unethical or improper professional conduct, or (iii) to have willfully aided and abetted the violation of any provision of the Federal securities laws (15 U.S.C. 77a to 80b-20), or the rules and regulations thereunder."

The Commission's Rules further provide under Rule 201.2(e)(2) that, "Any attorney who has been suspended or disbarred by a Court \mathbf{or} the United States in any State, Territory. Commonwealth, or Possession...shall be forthwith suspended from appearing or practicing before the Commission." This section is analogous to Rule 3-4.6 of the Rules of Discipline applicable to the instant disciplinary proceeding. This rule in and of itself provides support that the SEC is a disciplinary authority and further is an authorized disciplinary agency within the meaning of Rule 3-4.6 of the Florida Bar's Rules of Discipline.

It is uncontested that Respondent met the qualifications to practice

This position is not unlike that of the Florida Courts. See <u>DeBock v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 164,168 (Fla. 1987); See also Rule 3-1.1 of The Florida Bar Rules of Discipline stating, "A license to practice law confers no vested right to the holder thereof, but is a conditional privilege which is revocable for cause."

law in Florida and was thus granted a license to practice in Florida by the Supreme Court of Florida in 1979. This license qualified Respondent to appear and practice before the Commission. It is also uncontested that Respondent did appear and practice before the SEC within the meaning of these terms defined by the SEC's Rules of Practice. Thus, although the SEC does not require an "SEC license" to practice before the Commission, it is an agency authorized to discipline any lawyer practicing before it, and thus is an "authorized disciplinary agency" within the meaning of Rule 3-4.6.

Respondent's second argument is that the final order of the SEC suspending the Respondent for five (5) years is "not a final adjudication of misconduct as contemplated by the Florida rule." (Respondent's Brief p.13). The Florida Bar's position is that the consent judgment entered into by the Respondent in the SEC's civil proceeding is analogous to a nolo contendre plea. Further, the consent judgment is comparable to an Alford plea, which this Court has previously accepted as a "final adjudication" for purposes of Rule $3-7.2^4$, of The Florida Bar's Rules of Discipline.

³North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25,37 (1970); "a plea containing a protestation of innocence when...a defendant intelligently concludes that his interests require entry of a guilty plea and the record before the judge contains strong evidence of actual guilt."

While Rule 3-4.6 speaks in terms of a "final adjudication," rule 3-7.2 is couched in terms of "determination or judgment of guilt," as being conclusive proof of violating the Rules of Professional Conduct. See The Florida Bar v. Cohen, 16 FLW 413 (Fla. 1991); conviction of felony fraud, while conclusive proof of misconduct, warrants disbarment notwithstanding mitigating factors surrounding Alford plea. See also The Florida Bar v. Onett, 504 So.2d 388 (Fla. 1987); conviction of mail fraud, among other counts, conclusive proof of misconduct and warrants disbarment.

In The Florida Bar v. Lancaster, 448 So.2d 1019, (Fla. 1984), the Supreme Court of Florida considered discipline against an attorney for criminal misconduct where the attorney entered a nolo contendre plea. In Lancaster, the Court concluded that, a nolo contendre plea, along with an adjudication of guilt, is sufficient to sustain disciplinary action. Id. at 1022. This Court has also disciplined an attorney who plead nolo contendre to a crime even though there had been no adjudication of guilt, The Florida Bar v. Bunch, 195 So.2d 558 (Fla. 1967). Furthermore, this Court has also disciplined an attorney who plead nolo contendre and stipulated to a ninety-day suspension, The Florida Bar v. Miller, 322 So. 2d 502 (Fla. 1975). The Court in Lancaster went on to explain, "Thus the important factor is not whether there has been an actual adjudication of guilt, but whether the attorney has been given a chance to explain the circumstances surrounding his plea of nolo contendre and otherwise contest the inference that he engaged in illegal conduct." Lancaster at 1022.

In the present case, the Opinion and Order entered by the SEC, along with Respondent's consent and stipulation, are analogous to a nolo contendre plea. The Respondent's plea and stipulation with the SEC states that, "without admitting or denying the allegations of the complaint, except as to personal jurisdiction, hereby voluntarily consents to the entry of...final judgment of permanent injunction and other equitable relief against him without further notice."

As the Supreme Court of Florida concluded in <u>Lancaster</u>, the adjudication of guilt is not a prerequisite to the imposition of discipline. The most important factor is whether the Respondent had the opportunity to explain the circumstances surrounding his plea and

otherwise contest the inference of engaging in illegal conduct. The Respondent in the instant case was given the opportunity to explain the the circumstances of his plea or consent judgment and to contest the conclusion that he engaged in illegal conduct. Respondent instead determined that it was in his best interest to consent to entry of a final judgment and stipulation. The Respondent's entry into a consent judgment, and thus a waiver of a trial on the merits, should not prevent The Florida Bar from proceeding in disciplinary matters arising from such judgment.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Wilkes</u>, 179 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1965), the Supreme Court of Florida held that the foreign judgment of a sister state in disciplinary proceedings is acceptable as proof of guilt. The burden of showing why a foreign judgment should not operate as conclusive proof of guilt in a Florida disciplianry proceeding is on the accused attorney. <u>Id.</u> at 198. The Court in <u>Wilkes</u> went on to elaborate on Integration Rule 11.02(6) (the precursor of Rule 3-4.6), and stated that,

"By the plainest language the rule makes such a foreign judgment of guilt conclusive proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding in this state. Proof of guilt of the acts of misconduct adjudicated in the sister state is accomplished by simply proving the entry of the foreign judgment. This eliminates any necessity to retry the bare issue of guilt and makes unnecessary the production in Florida of testimony and evidence on this issue. The rule neither prescribes nor proscribes professional behavior. It relates solely to the question of proof of guilt." Id. at 197.

Accordingly, The Florida Bar's only burden in determining the guilt of the Respondent as to the aforementioned Rules of Discipline and Professional conduct is to prove the entry of the foreign judgment. The Bar has thus met its burden by simply proving the entry of the final order of the SEC suspending Respondent from practice for a five (5) year period.

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